THE ROMAN ‘AQABA PROJECT
THE 1994 CAMPAIGN

by

S. Thomas Parker

Introduction

This report summarizes salient results of
the first season of the Roman ‘Agaba Project
(RAP). After some background, it turns to
the project’s goals and research design. The
report then summarizes results from the pro-
ject’s excavation and regional survey. Final-
ly, preliminary conclusions from this re-
search are presented.

The first campaign was conducted from
May 15 to July 6, 1994 under a permit grant-
ed by the Department of Antiquities. The
project is sponsored by North Carolina State
University and is affiliated with the Amer-
ican Schools of Oriental Research (ASOR)
and the American Center of Oriental Re-
search (ACOR). Principal funding for the
1994 season was provided by the National
Endowment for the Humanities, an indep-
endent federal agency. Additional funding
was provided by the National Geographic
Society, Joukowsky Family Foundation,
Samuel H. Kress Foundation, North Carolina
State University, Kyle-Kelso Foundation, In-
stitute of Classics of the University of Hel-
sinki, IBM Corporation, and various private
donors. Additional grants enabled four stu-
dents to participate on the project. Elizabeth
Ann Pollard Lisi and Elizabeth Stephens
both received Jennifer C. Groot Fellowships
in the Archaeology of Jordan. Kirsten An-
derson received a fellowship from the Kyle-
Kelso Foundation. Jennifer Blakeslee re-
ceived a travel grant from the Endowment
for Biblical Research. The author is grateful
to all these agencies and individuals for their
support.

Special thanks are due to Dr Safwan Tell,
then Director-General of the Department of
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Antiquities, Dr Fayez E. Khasawneh, Presi-
dent of the ‘Agaba Regional Authority, Dr
Pierre Bikai, Director of ACOR, and Dr
Donald Whitcomb of the University of Chi-
cago. Their support is gratefully acknow-
ledged.

The field team in 1994 consisted of 15
staff, 35 students, and 70 local Jordanians.
Sawsan Fakhiry, Inspector of the ‘Aqaba Re-
gion, served as representative of the De-
partment of Antiquities. Senior staff in-
cluded John Wilson Betlyon as Numismatist,
Vincent Clark as Semitic Epigrapher, Dor-
ianne Gould as pottery and small finds regi-
strar, Nelson Harris as assistant camp man-
ager, Janet Jones as glass specialist, Andrea
Lain as human osteologist, Mary Mattocks
as landscape architect and draftsperson, Tina
M. Niemi as geologist, Erick S. Parker as
surveyor, S. Thomas Parker as director, stra-
tigrapher, and ceramicist, Andrew M. Smith
IT as director of the survey, Michael P. Spei-
del as classical epigrapher and project advis-
or, Michelle Stevens as lithics specialist and
survey archaeologist, Jonathan Tedder as
photographer and videographer, Michael To-
plyn as faunal analyst, and Peter Warnock as
archaeobotanist and camp manager. Area
supervisors were Vincent Clark(Areas C and
L), Dorianne Gould (Areas E, F, H, 0 and K),
Mary Louise Mussell (Areas D and J),
Joanne Ryan (Areas B, G, and M), and
James Terry (Area A).

Student staff serving as trench supervisors
included Kirsten Anderson, Heather Beck-
man, Jennifer Blakeslee, Ghida El-Osman,
Mark Friedrich, Susan Dana Gelb, Chris-
topher Groves, Jane Ann Hanck, Shery Har-
din, Nancy Hulbert, Bradley Kurtz, Anne



McClanan, Sarah Morgan, Matti Mustonen,
Brian Overton, Charles Parker, Megan
Perry, Elizabeth Ann Pollard Lisi, Chris-
topher Port, Alexandra Retzleff, David
Simpson, Elizabeth Stephens, Joseph
Stumpf, Lennart Sundelin, Will Tally, Laur-
ent Tholbecq, Mary Turner, Jan Vihonen,
Brian A. Wade, Joel Walker, Kristi Jo War-
ren, and Michele Zaparanick. Marie Barnett
and Mary Ann Schumpert were architect/
surveyors. John Rucker served on the sur-
vey. Heather Beckman, Jennifer Blakeslee,
and Elizabeth Ann Pollard Lisi were assist-
ant registrars. Elizabeth Stephens super-
vised field processing of faunal and human
osteological remains.

The Regional Environment

The project focuses on the region around
the modern city of ‘Aqaba, at the northern
end of the Gulf of ‘Aqaba (Fig. 1). The re-
gion lies within the great rift that extends
southward through the Jordan Valley, Dead
Sea, Wadi ‘Arabah, Gulf of ‘Agaba, and be-
yond. ‘Agaba thus lies at the border between
the southern end of Wadi ‘Arabah and the
northernmost extension of the Red Sea.

The contemporary climate is arid, with
mean annual rainfall of 40 mm per annum
confined to the winter months. It is also
characterized by high temperatures, often
exceeding 40 degrees C in summer. De-
spite the aridity of the region, fresh water is
available through tapping groundwater just
below ground surface. ‘Aqaba is surrounded
by deserts—Sinai to the west, Negev to the
north, and Hisma in southern Jordan and
northwestern Saudi Arabia to the north-east
and east.

The coastal plain is ringed by mountains
to the north-west and north-east, but lies
open via Wadi ‘Arabah to the north and is
accessible via Wadi al-Yutum to the north-
east. Steep gorges have been eroded into the
mountains flanking Wadi ‘Arabah by flash
floods from torrential winter storms carrying
sediment. At the mouths of these drainages
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large alluvial fans have been formed by these
accumulated sediments and radiate into
Wadi ‘Arabah, including around ‘Aqaba.
Modern flood control works divert run-off
from the modern city of ‘Aqaba, which is
built largely on older alluvial sediments
(Niemi 1995).

The site lies in an active tectonic zone
and has experienced several earthquakes in
historic times. Tectonic motion along the
fault zone has subsided the valley floor and
lifted the flanking mountains. The eastern
mountains are Precambrian granites. Many
igneous dikes, of varying composition from
diabase to felsite, have cut through the gran-
ites. North of ‘Agaba and overlying the Pre-
cambrian granites are the so-called Nubian
sandstones (Cambrian to Silurian). Erosion
of these sandstones has created large dune
fields in Wadi ‘Arabah beginning ca 50 km
north of ‘Agaba. The mountains west of
‘Agaba are composed largely of Cretaceous
limestone, sandstone, and dolomite. The
limestones are frequently interbedded with
chert, shale, and phosphate. The valley floor
extending to the gulf is covered with sedi-
ment derived from alluvial fans and mud-
flats. These sediments date from the Pleis-
tocene to the Holocene (Niemi 1995).

Historical Sources

Numerous historical sources refer to Aila
(Schertl 1936). Some of the more important
are presented below. A variety of variant
spellings is attested for the site in these
sources, including Aila, Ailana, Aelana, Ela-
na, Haila, Ailath, etc. For consistency in this
and all subsequent reports, and by agreement
with Donald Whitcomb, the Nabatacan/
Roman/Byzantine city will be referred to as
“Aila”. The adjacent Early Islamic walled
town will be called “Ayla”.

Diodorus (ca 60-30 BC), probably relying
on earlier Hellenistic sources, mentions that
around the coast of the Gulf of ‘Aqgaba “are
many inhabited villages of Arabs who are
known as Nabataeans. This tribe occupies a
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large part of the coast and not a little of the
country which stretches inland, and it has a
people numerous beyond telling and flocks
and herds in multitude beyond belief.” He
also states that these Nabataeans lived off
their flocks but also preyed on merchant
shipping in the Red Sea (Diodorus 3.43.4,
Loeb transl).

The most important early evidence on
Ailais Strabo’s Geography , from the early
first century AD. Strabo confirms that the
region was inhabited by Nabatacan Arabs,
who were pastoralists but also engaged in pi-
racy until supressed by Ptolemaic naval
forces (Geography 16.4.18). His first ex-
plicit mention of Aila is in reference to its
distance to Gaza, from which

is said to be an overland passage of
1,260 stadia to Aila, a city ( Greek
polis ) situated near the head of the
Arabian Gulf. This head consists of
two recesses: one extending into the
region near Arabia and Gaza, which is
called Ailanites, after the city situated
on it, and the other, extending to the
region near Egypt... the overland jour-
neys are made on camels through the
desert and sandy places (Geography
16.2.30, Loeb transl.).

Elsewhere, describing the southern Ara-
bian peninsula, Strabo mentions that frank-
incense, myrrh, and other aromatics from
south Arabia were sold to merchants who ar-
rive “in 70 days from Ailana (Ailana is a city
on the other recess of the Arabian Gulf, the
recess near Gaza called Ailanites, as I have
said before)” (Geography 16.4.4).

Ailla is also mentioned by the Elder Pliny
(NH 5.12), Josephus (AJ 8.6.4 [8.163] ),
and Ptolemy (Geography 5.17.1).

Trajan’s annexation of Nabataea in AD
106 as the Roman province of Arabia
brought Aila under direct Roman rule. The
via nova Traiana , which extended from the
borders of the Roman province of Syria
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through Arabia to its southern terminus at
Aila, was completed between AD 111 and
114. Two milestones of the via nova Traiana
have recently been discovered at ‘Agaba it-
self, dated 111/112(MacAdam 1989: 172).

The partition of provincial Arabia by Dio-
cletian (284-305) transferred southern Trans-
jordan, including Aila, to the province of Pa-
laestina . Several Late Roman and Byzantine
sources provide important details about the
city. Eusebius, ca 290, mentions that Aila
was located on the outer borders of Palestine,
that commercial traffic from India and Egypt
passed through Aila, and that legio X Freten-
sis (formerly based at Jerusalem) was then
garrisoned at Aila (Onomast. 6.17-21). A
fragmentary monumental Latin building in-
scription of ca 317-326, discovered in the
early Islamic town, may reflect the legion’s
presence at Aila (MacAdam 1989). The le-
gion was posted at Aila until at least the turn
of the fifth century (Notitia Dignitatum Or.
34.30).

The Peutinger Table, a Late Roman road
map, shows Aila (Haila) at the junction of
several important land routes: one north
through the Negev into Palestine, another ba-
sically following the via nova Traiana
northeast into Transjordan, and a third west-
ward across southern Sinai towards Egypt.

The first literary evidence of Christianity
at Aila is attested in 325, when a bishop of
Aila attended the Council of Nicaea. Later
bishops are listed at church councils in 451
and 536 (Abel 1967: v.2, 201). Another
bishop of Aila from the early seventh cen-
tury is attested among the Nessana papyri in
the Negev (Kraemer 1958: 146, no. 51). A
Christian Greek epitaph dated 555 has also
been reported at ‘Aqaba (Schwabe 1953).

Procopius of Caesarea (late sixth century)
mentions Aila as a city on the shore of the
Red Sea at the head of a narrow gulf (i.e. the
Gulf of Agaba; B. P. 1.19.3,cf. 1.19.19). He
states that Roman vessels sailed from Aila
into the Red Sea (1.19.23). Aila is also men-
tioned by several other Byzantine writers,
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some of whom describe the city as a station
for pilgrims en route to Mount Sinai. One
such pilgrimy, ca AD 570, states that “from
Mount Sinai it is eight staging posts to Ara-
bia, and the city called Aila. Shipping from
India comes into a port at Aila, bringing a
variety of spices” (Antoninus Placentius, #
9, CCSL 175: 149). The architect who de-
signed St. Catherine’s monastery at Mount
Sinai in the mid-sixth century is described in
an inscription as “Stephanus, son of Mar-
tyrios, builder and architect of Aila” (Sev-
cenco 1966: 257,262, no. 3). _

Muslim rule over Aila began in 630,
when Yuhanna ibn Ru’ba, perhaps the bish-
op of Aila, negotiated its surrender at Tabuk
with the Prophet Muhammed himself. Of
special note is the guarantee offered by the
Prophet for the protection of Aila’s ships and
caravans on land and sea (Zayadine 1994:
499), suggesting continued importance of
commerce in Aila’s economy on the eve of
the Muslim invasion. Soon after, ca 650, the
Muslim founded a new fortified town less
than 1 km to the south-east. Recent excava-
tions have revealed that this Early Islamic
town flourished from the mid-seventh to ear-
ly thirteenth centuries AD (Whitcomb 1986,
1987, 1988a, 1988b, 1989a, 1989b, 1989c,
1993, 1994, 1995). A suggestion that the
walled Early Islamic town represents the
reused Roman legionary fortress of legio X
Fretensis (Knauf and Brooker 1988) has
rightly been rejected (Whitcomb 1990).

The Arab geographer Shams ad-Din Mu-
qaddasi visited Early Islamic Ayla in the
tenth century AD and reported that the city
“is usually called Ayla, but [ the true] Aylais
in ruins nearby,about which it is written
‘Ask them concerning the town by the sea.””
(Khouri and Whitcomb 1988: 11). It has rea-
sonably been supposed that Mugaddasi was
looking from the Early Islamic town north-
west to the ruins of the Roman and Byz-
antine town, by then abandoned and in ruins
(Khouri and Whitcomb 1988: 12). As seen
below, new evidence from the current pro-
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ject supports this interpretation. A fifteenth
century Arab chronicler, al-Magqrizi, men-
tions an arched gate just outside Ayla that he
attributes to the Romans (Zayadine
1994:488).

The early Islamic town was abandoned in
the early thirteenth century AD. A new set-
tlement appeared ca 1 km farther south down
the coast around the present Hashemite cas-
tle. This Late Islamic settlement included
the castle ( as a caravan station), date palm
plantations, and fishing village reported by
various travellers (Khouri 1988: 140-41;
Whitcomb 1994: 7; Zayadine 1994: 501).

Previous Research

The region of ‘Aqgaba was until recently
little known archaeologically. Some useful
information may be gleaned from travelers
who visited the site in the nineteenth and
twentieth centuries and from prior scholarly
research in the region.

Among the earliest travelers to visit ‘Aqa-
ba was Eduard Riippell in 1822, who re-
ported seeing ruins called Gelena (Riippel
1829: 248ff). He was followed by Leon de
Laborde in 1828 (Laborde 1836: 45). Ed-
ward Robinson reached ‘Agaba from Sinai
in April, 1838. As he traveled around the
northeastern head of the gulf he reported that
“the extensive mounds of rubbish, which
mark the site of Ailah, the Elath of Scripture,
were on our left. They present nothing of in-
terest, except as indicating that a very an-
cient city has here utterly perished.” (Rob-
inson 1841: 241). Other early visitors
included E. Joy Morris in 1840, who also
saw mounds of ruins on the edge of the sea
(Morris 1842: 262).

One important early visitor was Richard
Burton, who reached ‘Aqaba by seain 1878:

Inland and to the north rise the mounds
and tumuli, the sole remains of ancient
Elath, once the port of Petra, which is
distant only two dromedary marches.
During rain-floods the site is an island:
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to the west flows the surface-water of
the Wady el-‘Arabah, and eastward the
drainage of the Wady Yitm has dug a
well defined bed. A line of larger heaps
to the north shows where, according to
the people, ran the city wall: finding it
thickly strewn with scoriae, old and
new, I decided this was the Siydghah
or “smith’s quarters.” Between it and
the sea surface is scattered with glass,
shards, and slag (Burton 1879: 240).

Among several valuable observations are
the supposed line of a city wall on the north-
em side of the site and the quantity of slag
and “scoriae” on the surface. Also notable is
Burton’s remark about problems posed by
surface water flowing around the site. He
later notes that the locals had constructed
earthen dams to divert water away from the
town and its date palm plantation (Burton
1879: 241). Morris, Burton, and Charles
Doughty, who visited ‘Aqaba ca 1876, all re-
ported seeing a wall or crude masonry dam
built across the mouth of Wadi al-Lithm (.e.
Wadi al-Yutum; Morris 1842: 265; Burton
1879: 241; Doughty 1936: 84-85).

T. E. Lawrence visited ‘Agaba in 1913.
He suggested that visible surface ruins and
scattered artifacts represented “an Arab set-
tlement of some luxury in the early Middle
Ages” (Woolley and Lawrence 1936: 144).
It now seems clear that he correctly located
the Early Islamic settlement of Ayla. Of spe-
cial interest is his observation that “There are
remains a little farther inland, and these rep-
resent probably a small village outside the
gates of the larger place.” (Woolley and
Lawrence 1936: 144). Recent work now
suggests that these remains are in fact the
classical Aila.

Fritz Frank visited the region during his
survey of Wadi ‘Arabah in 1933. He appar-
ently was the first scholar to notice the low-
lying mound of Tall al-Khalayfi, located 550
m north of the modern shoreline, ca 2 km
NW of Aila and ca 3.5 km NW of the Late Is-
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lamic castle at ‘Aqgaba (Fig. 2). He sug-
gested that Tall al-Khalayfi, which seemed to
be of pre-classical date from its surface pot-
tery, was in fact Solomon’s port of Elath/
Ezion-geber (Frank 1934: 243-45).

Nelson Glueck surveyed the region in
1934 and 1936, then conducted extensive ex-
cavations at Tall al-Khalayfi in 1938-1940.
During his initial visit to ‘Aqgaba he noted
that “About a kilometre west-northwest of
‘Aqgabah (i.e. the late Islamic castle) we
came upon a very large site, thickly strewn
with sherds, which has been correctly iden-
tified with the Roman Aila. The site was,
however, originally Nabataean, being cov-
ered with large quantities of Nabataean
sherds of all kinds. In addition there were
large quantities of Roman, Byzantine, and
mediaeval Arabic sherds. Some fragments
of glass were found, which are probably Ro-
man in origin....No sherds earlier than Nab-
atacan were found at Aila.”(Glueck 1935:
46-47). A second visit in 1936 confirmed the
absence of pre-classical pottery from the site.
He also recorded two Byzantine capitals
with bas-reliefs recently found at ‘Agaba,
perhaps from a Byzantine church.Greek in-
scriptions carved over each warrior-saint
identified them as St. Theodore and St. Lon-
ginus (Glueck 1939: 1-3).

Glueck’s excavation of Tall al-Khalayfi
yielded valuable evidence of the Iron IT and
Persian periods. He initially dated the foun-
dation of the site to the tenth century BC and
accepted Frank’s identification with Biblical
Elath/Ezion-geber. Finds of imported Greek
pottery and Aramaic ostraca pushed the ter-
minus of occupation into the fourth century
BC. Although he reported a “few Nabataean
sherds” from the surface of the site (Glueck
1939a: 3), no evidence of Nabataean occupa-
tion or artifacts was ever reported from the
excavations. He also stressed the importance
of copper-processing in the site’s economy.
Glueck produced a fine record of published
preliminary reports (Glueck 1935; 1938a;
1938b; 1939a; 1939b; 1940), but no final re-
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port appeared before his death. In his last
published statement about the site in 1965,
Glueck expressed some caution about his in-
itial interpretations but continued to assert
that Tall al-Khalayfi could have been Elath/
Ezion-geber or at least was “a fortified in-
dustrial, maritime, storage and caravanserai
- for both.” (Glueck 1965: 71).

A recent reappraisal of Glueck’s work has
cast doubt on his proposed identification of
Tall al-Khalayfi as Solomon’s port of Elath/
Ezion-geber. Pratico’s reinterpretation of
the pottery now suggests occupation no ear-
lier than the eighth century BC and con-
tinuing into the fifth or perhaps fourth cen-
tury BC (Pratico 1993). A stamped Rhodian
Jar handle of ca 200 BC, a surface find, is the
only published evidence for later occupa-
tion(Pratico 1993: 62).

Aurel Stein visited ‘Aqaba in April, 1939.
He noted that the “ancient name of Aila
clings to a mound stretching for about half a
mile [ca 800 m] at a short distance from the
northern extremity of the Gulf of ‘Agaba....
The mound bears on its sandy surface an
abundance of sherds which have enabled ear-
lier visitors of archaeological competence to
determine occupation of the site from the
Nabataean and Roman periods down to med-
iaeval times.” (Gregory and Kennedy 1985:
304).

With the site of Aila seemingly well locat-
ed by these early visitors, it seems surprising
that its exact location was soon lost. Only a
few years after Stein’s visit, Kirkbride and
Harding visited the modern site known as
“Aileh” and reported no sherds of the clas-
sical period. Further, they inspected a sec-
tion of the site excavated to its lowest stra-
tum by modern construction activity and
claimed that this showed the site was no ear-
lier than Byzantine (Kirkbride and Harding
1947: 24). The first archaeological excava-
tion of ‘Agaba was conducted in 1954 by Sa:
lim Saad, apparently just east of the present
‘Agaba Hotel. He “uncovered what was thou-
ght to be a section of a city rampart, along
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with Nabataean lamps and pottery sherds.”
(Khouri 1988: 138). Unfortunately, both the
artifacts and report of this work were shortly
thereafter lost, and nothing was ever pub-
lished (pers. comm. from Salim Saad).

The post-World War II era witnessed ex-
plosive growth of ‘Aqaba as Jordan’s only
seaport and a tourist resort. Modern ‘Aqaba
rapidly expanded from its old center around
the Late Islamic castle northward over the ar-
chaeological site (Fig. 2). By the 1980’s it
could truthfully be stated that “The site of
Roman Aila is unknown.” (Gregory and
Kennedy 1985: 429).

Although the precise location of the clas-
sical Aila was now a mystery, new excava-
tions in the 1980s revealed important pre-
classical and post-classical sites. In 1985
Khalil excavated Tall al-Maqass, a small
mound ca 4 km north of the present coastline
near the modern airport (Fig. 2). The site,
dated to the mid-fourth millennium BC,
yielded evidence of copper-working (Khalil
1987; 1992). Rediscovery of Early Islamic
Aylabegan in 1986, when Whitcomb located
a rectangular walled town on the beach, ap-
parently founded in the mid-seventh century
AD (Figs. 2 and 3). These results and scat-
tered literary references suggested a port that
flourished until the early thirteenth century
(Whitcomb 1986, 1987, 1988, 1989a, 1989b,
1989c¢, 1993, 1994, 1995; Khouri and Whit-
comb 1988; Melkawi, ‘Amr and Whitcomb
1994). Although these excavations yielded
quantities of pre-Islamic artifacts mixed with
later material, no stratified remains ante-
dating the seventh century were found.
Among these were fragments of a Latin
building inscription of AD 317-326 (Mac-
Adam 1989) and a Byzantine lintel inscribed
with Christian symbols and a Christian
Greek inscription (Zayadine 1994: 489). All
this hinted strongly that pre-Islamic Aila
must lie nearby.

Suggestions about the location of pre-
Islamic Aila were advanced from a surface
survey by Meloy in 1990. He surveyed the
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region north-west of the Early Islamic town.
This is a largely flat-lying area now covered
by modern buildings and sand dunes lying
within 500 m of the modern shoreline. The
portion within the modern ring road, des-
ignated the Circular Area, encompasses
about 40 ha. Here Meloy identified several
mounds, traces of mudbrick walls and scat-
ters of surface artifacts. Surface pottery,
mostly dated from the first century BC to the
sixth century AD, suggested that this area
could have been part of classical Aila (Me-
loy 1991). The survey and the encour-
agement of Donald Whitcomb encouraged
the author to excavate in this sector to find
classical Aila.

Principal Research Questions

The project seeks to answer the following
principal question: what was the role of the
city of Aila in the economy of the Roman
Empire and how did this role evolve over the
centuries of the city’s existence ?

From this primary question, several sub-
sidiary research questions may be grouped
into three major categories:

1. What was Aila’s role in international trade
between the Roman Empire and its east-
ern neighbors? What specific products

passed through the port? Where were

their origins and destinations? What
structures were developed at the site to fa-
cilitate this trade? What were the prin-
cipal routes of access ?

2. What was the impact of the regional nat-
ural environment on the economy of the
city? Conversely, how did human activ-
ity impact the regional environment?
Most Roman cities controlled a territor-
ium , that is a rural hinterland that pro-
vided agricultural and raw materials. Was
Aila’s hinterland adequate for self-
sufficiency in various necessities, or was
some level of importation necessary ?

3. How was economic and other human ac-
tivity organized within and around the ur-
ban space ? How did the physical plan of
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the city evolve ? Can areas of specific ac-
tivities be identified, such as residential
districts, industrial areas, commercial dis-
tricts, caravanserais, harbor installations,
cultic buildings, and military quarters ?

Research Design

In order to answer these questions, the
project’s research design consists of two ma-
jor components: 1) a regional archaeolog-
ical and environmental survey of the en-
virons of ‘Aqaba, focusing especially on
Wadi ‘Arabah north of the city, which is
largely terra incognita, and 2) excavation of
the classical city in order to learn about its
plan and history and to recover artifactual
material for analysis. A preliminary re-
connaissance was conducted in 1993 to
study the site and formulate the research de-
sign; a reconnaissance of southeastern Wadi
‘Arabah evaluated prospects for a full-
fledged archaeological survey ( Smith and
Niemi 1994). The results were sufficiently
encouraging to plan the current project,
which launched the first of three planned
field seasons in 1994.

The Regional Survey

A major gap in our knowledge of the en-
virons of ‘Aqgaba is southeastern Wadi ‘Ara-
bah, which offers the easiest access to the
site from the north. The region was thus tar-
geted for survey by the project. Wadi ‘Ara-
bah is a linear valley that extends ca 165 km
north from ‘Agaba on the Red Sea to the es-
carpment overlooking the Dead Sea. The
south-east sector of the valley, that is the
study region, extends ca 70 km NNE from
‘Aqaba to the watershed of the ‘Arabah val-
ley, ca 12 km north of al-Gharandal.

The primary goal of the survey is to ex-
plore both the hinterland of the city of Aila
and one of the city’s presumed principal land
routes. The survey team is studying the nat-
ural environment (geomorphology, hydrol-
ogy, climate, flora, and fauna) and recording
evidence for past human activity by visiting
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previously known archaeological sites and
searching for new sites. Although the focus
of the project is the classical period, sites of
all periods encountered were recorded.

A total of 161 archaeological sites were
visited and recorded by the survey team in
1994. The principal periods represented in
preliminary analysis of the collected artifacts
were Middle Paleolithic, Pre-Pottery Neo-
lithic B (PPNB), Chalcolithic/Early Bronze,
Early Roman/Nabataean, Late Roman, and
Early Byzantine. There was more limited ev-
idence of occupation in the Late Byzantine
and Early Islamic periods. Detailed results
of the survey are forthcoming in a separate
article.

Excavation of Aila

Based on Meloy’s 1990 survey, excava-
tion initially focused on the so-called Cir-
cular Area, believed to encompass part of
classical Aila (Fig. 3). The sheer size of the
Circular Area necessitated sampling selected
areas. Selection of excavation areas was de-
termined by analysis of aerial photographs,
traces of architectural remains visible on the
surface, and scatters of surface artifacts.
Nine widely scattered excavation areas (Ar-
eas A-H, M) were laid out to sample the Cir-
cular Area. As will be seen below, three ar-
eas (A, B, and M) closest to al-Istiklal Street
immediately came upon significant ancient
remains and will be discussed below. Re-
sults from the other excavation .areas were
negative in terms of ancient remains but
yield important evidence on the geo-
morphology of the region. These will be dis-
cussed first.

Areas C, D, E, F, G, and H . Meloy noted
several mounds of sand and palm trees close
together within the Circular Area. Several
surface features suggested the possibility of
ancient occupation. Diagnostic sherds dated
largely from the first century BC to the
fourth century AD. Therefore the project
opened six excavation areas, each of one to
three trenches, designated Areas C, D, E, I,

-241-

G, and H (Fig.3).

Several wall lines of mudbrick visible on
the surface in Areas C and D dated to the
mid-twentieth century and probably repre-
sent a British military camp. In Areas E, F,
and H no ancient remains were found under
topsoil. In Area G a deposit of mudbrick
slump, presumably from some kind of struc-
ture nearby, was found atop sterile sand. But
no visible structures appeared and only a few
artifacts were recovered.

Because the ‘Aqgaba Regional Authority
plans to develop the Circular Area, it seemed
appropriate to search for ancient cultural re-
mains at deeper levels in these areas. There-
fore, a series of trenches up to 3.50 m deep
was excavated with mechanical equipment
adjacent to each excavation area. In most
cases the deep trenches revealed thick de-
posits of fluvial and/or beach sand but little
evidence of cultural remains. Therefore, by
the second week Areas C, D, E, F, G, and H
were closed out and their personnel moved
to more promising areas. Nevertheless, these
areas did aid in defining the parameters of
classical Aila and yielded important ev-
idence about possible changes in the coast-
line, discussed below.

Area B. On the northwestern corner of a
now abandoned military base west of al-
Istiklal Street are three mounds of sand and
palm trees (marked G8, G9, and G10 on Me-
loy’s map, cf. Meloy 1991: Fig.3). G8is the
highest mound in the entire Circular Area at
an elevation of 8.4 m. Although Meloy ob-
served that these mounds had been disturbed
by modern military trenching, he nev-
ertheless noted many potsherds and some ce-
ramic slag atop all three. The diagnostic
sherds dated primarily from the first century
BC to the fourth century AD, that is Early
Roman/Nabataean and Late Roman. The re-
cent trenching had revealed traces of mud-
brick walls and a few dressed building stones
in this area. This suggested that the mounds
were remains of structures, probably of the
Early and Late Roman periods(Meloy 1991).
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The three mounds surveyed by Meloy began in the Early Roman/Nabataean period
seemed too disturbed for worthwhile ex- (first centuries BC/AD) and continued in
cavation. But another, lower mound ad- several phases through the Late Roman pe-

jacent to the north-west corner of the aban-
doned military base was excavated as Area
B (Figs.4 and 5). Three trenches (B. 1-3) -
were laid out atop this mound. B.1 and B.2 =
(both 2 x 10 m) were laid out to provide N-S
and E-W cross sections of the mound. B.2
was later expanded by a 2 X 7 m extension to
the south-east of the original trench. B.3 (7 x
10 m) was opened west of B.1 to elucidate
structures exposed in B.1. The 1.50 m balk
between B.1 and B.3 was eventually re-
moved as well.

Excavation revealed a complex of mud- 4. Map showing location of trenches in RAP Areas B
brick structures (Figs. 5 and 6). Occupation and M.
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5. Plan of mudbrick complex in Area B (Trenches B.1 and B.3). The Nabataecan/Roman structures were subsequently
disturbed by modern military trenching.
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6. General view of domestic mudbrick complex in Area B (Trenches B.1 and B.3). View to east.

riod (second to early fourth centuries AD).
Although the ancient structures had been dis-
turbed by modern trenching, they contained
many fawabin with associated ash and other
installations. Artifacts provided useful ec-
onomic evidence about this early period in
the city’s history. The pottery included East-
ern Sigillata, a few amphorae, glass sherds,
many faunal remains (ca 70% fish), several
imported stone objects, and seven bronze
coins. A Nabataean lamp from Area B with
a man’s face in low relief probably dates to
the first or second century AD (Fig.7). Itis
paralleled at Mo’a in the Negev (Cohen
1993: 1139). The evidence suggests that
Area B was a domestic complex occupied
until perhaps the fourth century AD, then
abandoned. Only a handful of Byzantine
sherds and two Byzantine coins (both from
modern contexts) suggest a possibility of
transient later occupation before the modern
military trenching.

Area M. East of Area B and on the west-
ern side of al-Istiklal Street, a deep trench for
a sewer pipe had been dug in 1993. Many
sherds of the Early Roman/Nabataean period
were noticed near this trench, suggesting ev-
1dence of the earliest period of the city’s his-
tory. Therefore three 5 x 5 m trenches were
opened as Area M in a N-S line just west of
and parallel to the modern street (Figs. 3 and
4). These trenches (M. 1-3) yielded mostly
Early Roman/Nabatacan material. Notably,
the area did not yield a single Byzantine

243-

NABATAEAN LAMP - ca First or Second Century AD.

7. Drawing of a Nabataean molded lamp, decorated
with the face of a human male in low relief, re-
covered from Trench B.3. Probably first or sec-
ond century AD.

sherd.

Excavation revealed stone and mudbrick
structures. These experienced several phas-
es of use, with mudbrick walls and associat-
ed tawabin 1in the earlier phases and crude
stone walls in the later phases. Rich ar-
tifactual remains included two Nabatacan
coins, glass sherds, classic Nabataean paint-
ed and unpainted pottery and Eastern Si-
gillata. Trench M.1 also yielded several
largely reconstructable ceramic vessels from
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mudbrick tumble marking the end of one
phase. Among these was a so-called Koan
amphora (Fig. 8) produced in the western
Mediterranean in the first centuries BC/AD.
These vessels were wine containers. They
are attested at other Red Sea ports and as far
east as India(Peacock and Williams 1986:
105-06). In fact, sherds of this same type of
amphora were found in other excavation ar-
eas, proving that the vessel from Area M was
not an isolated find. It thus constitutes im-
portant evidence for wine traded from the
western Mediterranean to the Red Sea via
Aila in the Early Roman period.

Area A. A low mound of sand, nearly 500
m south of Area B and ca 300 m south of
Area M, is located in the south-east edge of
the Circular Area, directly adjacent to al-
Istiklal Street (Figs. 3 and 9). Much of the
mound now lies under the modern street.
The mound clearly extends much . further,

So Called "KOAN AMPHORA"
1st Century B.C. or AD,

8. A so-called “Koan amphora” (actually from the
western Mediterranean) found in Area M. It dates
to the first century BC or AD and probably served
as a transport vessel for wine.

CIRCULAR AREA
Radwan Residential Area

Som, I 20
mmc? I:

Roman Aqaba Project
TRENCH EXCAVATION KEY
RAP94 Areas A, J, K& L

Early Islamic:
Ayla

9. Map showing location of trenches in RAP Areas
A,J,K,and L.

into the Radwan residential area. The sur-
viving portion west of al-Istiklal Street
measures ca 100 x 50 m and rises over 3 m
in height. Meloy noted that the mound was
rich in surface artifacts, including pottery
and glass sherds and ceramic slag. Most of
the surface pottery was Byzantine, especially
fifth/sixth centuries AD (Meloy 1991: 407-
10). Thus it was hoped that excavation of

~this mound (Area A) would provide ev-

idence of Byzantine Aila.

A series of nine trenches (A.1-9) of vary-
ing dimensions was laid out to sample por-
tions of the mound. Trenches A.1-7 basically
formed a T. with the N-S line extending
through Trenches A.2 (8 x 8 m), A5 (6x6
m), A.6 (6x 6 m), and A.1 (6 X 6 m) and an
E-W line through Trenches A.6 (6 x 6m)
A7(35x7m),A4(5x5m),and A3 (2x8
m). The seven trenches together encom-
passed an area of nearly 300 sq. m.

Excavation in Trenches A.1-7 revealed a
complex of mudbrick structures just below
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the modern ground surface (Fig.10). Be-
neath the complex was a thick (ca 1m) layer
of mostly sterile sand. Tina Niemi, project
geologist, suggested that earlier remains
might lie under the sand layer. Further, the
‘Agaba Regional Authority was planning ex-
tensive road work that threatened to destroy
Area A. Therefore, given this emergency,
mechanical equipment was employed to
search for earlier remains north of the ex-
isting trenches in Area A. After removal of
the overlying sand layer, two additional
trenches were laid out to the north of the
original seven trenches. Trench A.8 (4 x 4
m) uncovered domestic installations, in-
cluding three tawabin . The trench also yield-
ed four coins, dating from the late third to
mid-fourth centuries, a steatite (schist) cook-
ing bowl and Late Roman Red Ware (mostly
African Red Slip) of similar date. This was
the earliest stratified evidence from Area A.
The steatite vessel, previously attested only
in Early Islamic contexts at ‘Agaba (Whit-
comb 1994: 27-28), is the earliest dated ev-
idence for the importation of these dis-
tinctive artifacts into Jordan, apparently
from the Arabian peninsula.

Trench A.9 (4 x 4 m), situated immedi-
ately north of A.8, uncovered a portion of a
cemetery with at least five mudbrick tombs.
Each tomb consisted of a shallow cist dug
into the soil (Fig.11). The sloping walls of
the cist were lined by two low parallel mud-
brick walls surmounted by a mudbrick cap.
Three tombs were excavated. Each con-
tained a single articulated skeleton. Two
were adults, aged ca 18-25 years (Fig.11)
and 25-40 years, and one child aged 1-1.5
years. The tombs were mostly devoid of
grave goods. A few associated sherds were
predominately Early Byzantine, a date sup-
ported by a coin dated 347-355 found within
one tomb, providing a terminus post quem
for the cemetery. How long it remained in
use is problematic, but the tombs were cov-
ered by sand and thus no longer visible by
the time the mudbrick complex was founded
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11. An articulated skeleton, probably an adult female
aged ca 18-25 years, from a mudbrick tomb in Area
A. Probably fourth century AD. View to west.

just to the south.

The mudbrick complex in Area A con-
sisted of several rooms with associated
floors built around a paved courtyard (Fig.
10). Most of the mudbrick walls survived
only one course high. Portions of about a
dozen rooms or courtyards were exposed,
some connected by doorways with stone-
paved thresholds. Most of the floors had
been swept clean of artifacts before abandon-
ment, as reflected by the paucity of artifacts
in primary association with the structures.
But domestic activities were suggested by in-
stallations built into the floors and walls of
the complex and by artifactual evidence.
These included fragments of steatite cooking
vessels, glass sherds, two basalt millstones,
and various domestic ceramics.

Close dating of the complex proved prob-
lematic. The pottery was mostly Late Byz-
antine (sixth/early seventh centuries), in-
cluding African Red Slip of the sixth/early
seventh centuries. The complete absence of
glazed wares precludes a date after ca 800.
However, a few Early Islamic sherds usually
appeared in the later phases along with the
predominately earlier pottery. Especially
characteristic were so-called Mahesh Wares,
attested in late Umayyad/early Abassid lev-
els at Early Islamic Ayla (Whitcomb 1989c).
This suggested that the complex, or at least
its latest phase of occupation, dates to the
eighth century. It was founded earlier, how-
ever, in the Late Byzantine period.
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Area J. Discovery of mudbrick struc-
tures in Area A drew attention to the east, di-
rectly opposite al-Istiklal Street, where the
artificial mound seemed to extend. Thus a
vacant lot east of the street was targeted for
excavation as Area J (Fig. 9). It initially con-
sisted of six 5 x 5 m trenches laid out in two
parallel rows of three trenches each. Trench-
es J.4-5 were later expanded 5m to the south.
Two more trenches were opened to the east
in the southern line: J.7 (5 x5m) and J.8 (2 x
10 m). Finally, two other trenches were
opened west of the road, just south of Area
A. These were Trenches J.9 (6 x 6 m) and
J.10 (6 x 8 m).

The more northerly row (J.1-3) uncovered
parts of a massive mudbrick structure ca.
18.20 m wide (Fig. 12). Plastered walls of
this structure rested on stone foundations.
The walls and associated piers possibly once
supported barrel-vaulted roofs. More frag-
mentary remains of these mudbrick struc-
tures were also discovered in the southern
range of trenches (J.4-8), where the later city
wall had cut and partially covered the mud-
brick structures. Latest pottery from the
foundations was Early Byzantine, including
diagnostic African Red Slip sherds from the
fourth century AD. Several fourth century
coins were also retrieved from the founda-
tions of the structure. The structure seems to

have witnessed little actual use. Deep probes
to the foundations within the structure re-
vealed little occupational debris and no sub-
stantial floors. The structure partially filled
with sand before collapsing in several phas-
es.

The function of the structure remains en-
igmatic, both because much remains un-
excavated and southern portions were de-
molished and/or covered by later const-
ruction. A Christian basilica is one possibil-
ity, perhaps associated with the Early Byz-
antine cemetery in Area A just to the north-
west. Mudbrick basilicas are attested in
Egypt in the fourth century. A bishop for
Aila, as noted above, is attested as early as
325. But more excavation is required to test
this suggestion.

These mudbrick structures were cut by
construction of a massive stone curtain wall
and projecting tower (Figs.13 and 14). The
wall averaged 1.60 m thick, was preserved
up to ca 2.00 m in height, and extended E-W
for 28 m through the entire southern range of
trenches. It rested directly on sand and was
constructed mostly of local granite and di-
abase mortared into two faces surrounding
an interior fill of mortared rubble.

A rectangular tower was bonded to the
north face of the curtain wall and projected
outward 4 m. Although both curtain wall and

Roman Agaba Project - MUD BRICK STRUCTURE - RAP24 J.1,2&3 |

12. Plan of the mudbrick vaulted structure in Area J. It probably dates to the fourth century AD.




fifth century AD. :

13. The Early Byzantine curtain wall and projecting tower

in Area J.

R A

It was probably constructed in the late fourth or

e ‘
‘, | 45

Roman Agaba Project

EARLY BYZANTINE CURTAIN WALL - RAP94 J.4,5,6,7&8

14. Plan of the Early Byzantine curtain wall and projecting tower in Area J.

tower were excavated to their foundations,
no doorway was found to give access into the
tower. The tower, like much of the curtain
wall, was cut into the earlier mudbrick struc-
ture, part of which filled part of the tower’s
interior. The remainder of the interior was
filled with mostly sterile sand. There was no
trace of interior floors. This suggested that
the lower portion of the tower was never in-
tended for use as a room, but rather was
filled immediately after construction, per-
haps to create an elevated fighting platform.
The curtain wall presumably represents

-248-

part of the city wall of Byzantine Aila. Early
Byzantine pottery was recovered from the
fill within the tower and mid-fourth century
coins were found both in the rubble core of
the wall and in sand fill within the tower.
This suggested that the curtain wall dates to
the Early Byzantine period and must have
been constructed after the mid-fourth cen-
tury. Late Byzantine (i.e., sixth/seventh cen-
turies) pottery sealed under collapsed por-
tions of the tower and curtain wall suggested
that the curtain wall had gone out of use by
this period. The wall and tower then served
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as a dump, which included kiln wasters and
ceramic slag. Some debris probably derived
from the seventh century pottery kilns found
just to the east (Melkawi, “Amr, and Whit-
comb 1994). The curtain wall was robbed to
its foundations in Trench J.8, the most east-
erly trench, but seemed to have once ex-
tended further east into the area now oc-
cupied by modern apartment buildings.
Pottery associated with this robbing sug-
gested it may also have occurred in the sev-
enth century, when the adjacent Early Islam-
ic town was built.

To the west the curtain wall disappeared
under al-Istiklal Street, suggesting that more
of the wall might be found across the street.
Therefore, late in the season two additional
trenches (J.9, 10) were opened along the pre-
sumed line of the city wall, just south of Area
A. Excavation revealed a complex of stone
walls that formed a series of three adjacent
rooms along this line (Fig.15). But none of
the walls was substantial enough to be the
city wall. These rooms yielded Late Byz-

antine pottery, suggesting that the walls
might in fact overlie the city wall. On the
last day of excavation a more substantial
wall of large stones was found under the
western most later wall in J.10 (visible as
the unshaded wall on the extreme western
edge of Fig. 15). This earlier wall extended
for 3 m N-S and perhaps represents part of
the northwestern corner of the curtain wall,
that is where the wall turned southwards to-
wards the shoreline. Further excavation may
uncover the remaining E-W wall segment
and thus complete another long portion of
the Byzantine city wall.

Area K. Just southeast of Area J, across
an oval paved parking lot, is another vacant
lot. A group of six 5 x 5 m trenches was
opened here as Area K (Fig. 9). The goal
was to locate ancient remains through hor-
izontal exposure; therefore individual tre-
nches were widely scattered over the lot.
Once the Byzantine city wall was discovered
just to the northwest in Area J, it seemed
likely that Area K would provide evidence of

oM 5M M » ) 7’\
Jm

Drawing by: Marle Bamett

Roman Agaba Project - STONE BUILDING - RAP94 J.9&10 Mary Mattocks
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15. Plan of Late Byzantine stone building in Trenches J.9-10. The carlier wall, shown unshaded, visible at the ex-

treme western edge of the drawing may be a remnant of the Early Byzantine curtain wall.



occupation within the Byzantine city.

All six trenches revealed ancient remains
just below the modern ground surface. A
complex of stone walls, mudbrick walls, and
associated floors appeared, partly covered by
extensive dumps. Rich artifactual remains
were recovered from these dump layers, in-
cluding over 44,000 potsherds, nearly 5,000
glass sherds, hundreds of animal bones,
some carbonized plant remains, and ca 40
coins. The latest pottery from these dump
layers was Early Islamic, mostly Abbasid.
One of the latest dump layers yielded an Ab-
basid coin of the early tenth century. An Ar-
abic dipinto was found in an earlier context
from the same trench (K. 4). The text was
painted in black ink on a camel bone. The
project’s Semitic epigrapher, Vincent Clark,
suggests dating the dipinto on paleographical
grounds between the early eighth and early
ninth centuries AD (Clark, pers. comm.),
which accords well with its stratigraphic
context. Other notable artifacts from these
dump layers were fragments of bronze, cop-
per, and iron artifacts, jewelry, and beads of
various materials. There were also various
imported stone artifacts, such as fragments
of steatite cooking vessels, marble, basalt
(used for small mills), and alabaster.

Removal of these dump layers exposed
more architecture, including several phases
of mudbrick and stone walls with associated
occupation. Within these structures was
some evidence of domestic and industrial in-
stallations, such as fawabin and clay mixing
pits. The latest pottery from the layers under
the dumps was Umayyad and Early Abbasid.
‘This suggests that Area K served as a do-
mestic and possibly industrial suburb to the
Early Islamic town in the Umayyad and then
Abbasid periods. It was subsequently aban-
doned and used as a dump after the ninth
century.

Despite the fact that all excavated loci ex-
cavated in Area K could be dated to the Early
Islamic period, there were clear hints of ear-
lier occupation. Most coins identified thus
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far from Area K are Byzantine. The pre-
dominant pottery from the area was Late
Byzantine (ca 500-650), although usually
mixed with some Early Islamic sherds. Giv-
en that the deepest probe in Area K reached
only ca 1 m below the modern ground sur-
face, it seems likely that future excavation
will find Byzantine occupation under the
Umayyad sratum.

Area L. Nearly 250 m south-west of Area
K and only ca 150 m west of the Early Islam-
ic town is a parcel of undeveloped land near
the beach, ca 100 m from the shoreline, ex-
cavated as Area L. A surface survey yielded
many artifacts. A modern construction tre-
nch just west of Area L had revealed appar-
ent ancient structures and occupation just be-
low the modern ground surface. The goal in
Area L was to locate any remains of harbor
works or other installations that might have
been associated with the port of ancient Aila.
Area L consisted of six 6 x 6 m trenches laid
out in two parallel rows of three trenches
each (Fig. 9).

Excavation revealed ancient stratification
immediately below the surface. A complex
of mudbrick and stone walls with associated
floors and domestic installations was located
along one side of what appears to have been
a street. Four phases of occupation were rec-
ognized. The pottery was predominantly
Early Islamic, dating primarily to the late
Abbasid period (ninth/tenth centuries AD).
Various glazed wares, including imports
from Iraq, Egypt, and the Hijaz were re-
covered. Other finds included ca 2,000 glass
sherds, over forty fragments of steatite ves-
sels, a dozen basalt grindstones and mortars,
six copper/bronze weights, and a complete
pair of iron scissors. Fish bones were es-
pecially prevalent in the rich faunal corpus
from the area.

Therefore it appears that Area L, like
Area K, was a suburb of the nearby Early Is-
lamic settlement. It seems to have witnessed
significant domestic occupation followed by
extensive dumping, all within the late Ab-
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basid period. Although it seems likely that
earlier Islamic occupation underlies the late
Abbasid phases, it remains unclear whether
pre-Islamic remains lie deeper within Area
L. Some pre-Islamic sherds and a few Byz-
antine coins were found mixed in later con-
texts. Since the deepest excavation in Area
L reached only ca 1.70 m below the modemn
ground surface, further excavation is re-
quired.

Analysis of Organic Remains

Archaeobotanical Remains . The excava-
tion yielded a significant amount of botan-
ical remains, recovered by hand retrieval,
sieving, and flotation of soil samples. Pre-
liminary analysis of the remains provides
some insights into the local economy and
environment.

The relative scarcity of large wood frag-
ments and the abundance of dung suggests
that timber was not readily available in the
region during the classical and Early Islamic
periods. The one exception is palm wood,
which does appear fairly frequently in the
botanical record. Palm trees can provide
large and fairly straight logs but the fibrous
nature of its wood makes them difficult to
cut. The palm apparently was used for both
construction and (along with its fronds) as
fuel. Most of the rest of the wood derived
from varieties of shrubs. Dung clearly
served as the principal fuel for most pur-
poses, including cooking. Several charred
but intact dung balls were recovered, most
apparently from camels. Preliminary analy-
sis suggests that the regional environment in
the Roman and Byzantine periods was not
appreciably different from modern condi-
tions. This raises the question of where fuel
was obtained to supply the city’s metal-
processing and, at least by the seventh cen-
tury, pottery industries (Melkawi, ‘Amr and
Whitcomb 1994).

Most dietary plant remains recovered
were grains, with barley predominating but
wheat also being present. Some dung con-
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tained barley, suggesting its use as animal
fodder. Wheat presumably was mostly for
human consumption. Apart from grain,
grape pips were also attested. Conspicuously
absent from the record were figs, olives,
dates, and legumes. The absence of dates is
especially surprisingly given the presence of
palm wood and the existence of an extensive
date palm plantation at the site in modern
times. The lack of olive pits is less sur-
prising, for the region’s present environment
could not have supported substantial olive
cultivation and thus olives and olive oil were
probably imported into the city. However
caution is required by the relatively small
corpus of evidence available thus far.

Faunal Remains. The 1994 excavations
recovered thousands of animal bones and
shells. Not surprisingly, various species of
fish comprised a significant portion of the
faunal corpus. Hunting seems to have made
virtually no contribution to the local diet.
The vast majority of mammalian bones were
derived from caprines (sheep and goat), with
camel bones as a significant minority. There
was very limited evidence for a few other do-
mestic mammalian species exploited for
food, such as cattle, pig, and chicken. These
species were much more prominent at con-
temporary sites farther north along the Ara-
bian frontier, such as the forts of the limes
Arabicus (Toplyn 1994). But the harsher .
environmental conditions around ‘Agaba
seem to have limited their exploitation in this
region. A few other domestic species used
principally as work animals, such as donkey,
horse, and dog, were present but also ex-
tremely rare.

Of particular importance are the sex and
mortality profiles of the caprines recovered.
Preliminary analysis suggests that most of
these animals were imported “on the hoof”
to the city for immediate consumption, rather
than being raised by the local population.
This model of importation for urban con-
sumption is paralleled at other urban centers
of the Roman Empire. It strongly contrasts
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the forts of the limes Arabicus farther north,
where the evidence suggests a subsistence
model of locally managed caprine herds (To-
plyn 1994). This raises the question of the
external sources of these animals.

Conclusion

Much has been learned about ancient Aila
and its environs from the first season. The
regional survey has provided a wealth of
new evidence about Aila’s hinterland. The
excavations have identified major portions
of the Nabataean, Roman, and Byzantine
city of Aila. Further, new evidence of the
suburbs of the Early Islamic town has also
emerged. The large artifactual corpus has
begun to provide insights into the economy
of the city.

First, there is clear evidence of human ac-
tivity in the region in the prehistoric era, es-
pecially the Middle Paleolithic, Pre-pottery
Neolithic, and Chalcolithic periods. Further,
it also seems that human settlement in the re-
gion has tended to migrate from north to
south from at least late prehistoric times
through the Late Islamic period. The earliest
attested sedentary occupation is at Tall al-
Magqass and its associated sites, dated to the
mid-fourth millennium BC and now ca 4 km
north of the present coastline. In the Iron II
and Persian periods the only known settle-
ment was at Tall al-Khalayfi, now ca 500 m
from the coast.

By the first century BC the focus of settle-
ment shifted over two km south-east of Tall
al-Khalayfi to Nabataean Aila (RAP Areas B
and M). There was a substantial Nabatacan
settlement here by the first centuries BC/AD.
Both areas yielded remains of apparent do-
mestic structures. Although Area M yielded
evidence mainly from the first centuries BC/
AD, Area B was occupied from the first to
perhaps the fourth century AD.

Large quantities of imported goods, in-
cluding fine ware pottery and amphorae
from the Mediterranean, glass from the Le-
vant and Egypt, and exotic stone suggest that
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Aila was a thriving center of commerce in
this period, as also documented by written
sources. Results of the regional survey sug-
gest that the Early Roman/Nabataean period
was the best represented period both in terms
of number of sites occupied and quantity of
datable artifacts in Wadi ‘Arabah north of
Aila.

The ceramic corpus included 373 sherds
of terra sigillata, mostly Eastern Sigillata A
from eastern Mediterranean production cen-
ters. Wine amphorae from the western Med-
iterranean were also passing through the
port, perhaps in transit to destinations via the
Red Sea. The recovery of a small number of
kiln wasters and ceramic slag from Area M
suggests that Aila may have been producing
some pottery as early as the Nabataean era.
Trade via the Red Sea was certainly thriving
in this period (Sidebotham 1986).

The glass consists of a variety of forms,
mostly plain utilitarian vessels with a few
luxury vessels. Some of the glass vessels
from Aila are paralleled at the Egyptian Red
Sea port of al-Quseir. Among these are ex-
amples of cast and cut colorless wares,
which appear to be Egyptian imports of the
first two centuries AD (Meyer 1992: 19-20,
pls. 4:62,5:93, 6:103-09). There is as yet no
evidence of glass production at Aila.

A variety of stone imported for various
uses also passed through the port in the Ro-
man period, including marble, limestone, ba-
salt, sandstone, and alabaster.

It is impossible as yet to evaluate the im-
pact of the Roman annexation of AD 106
upon Aila. Continuity of occupation from
the Early Roman to the Late Roman period is
demonstrated in at least one area (Area B).
Completion of the via nova Traiana in 111-
114 with its attendant forts and garrisons
probably improved both physical infra-
structure and security for commercial traffic.
The Romans soon began exploitation of the
copper mines of Wadi ‘Arabah, apparently
the most intensive period of exploitation
ever witnessed at these mines (Hauptmann
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and Weisberger 1987, 1992; Rothenberg
1962, 1971, 1988, 1993). The 1994 excava-
tions at Aila produced over 500 objects of
copper or bronze, including some small frag-
ments of copper ore and copper slag.

By the Early Byzantine period the prin-
cipal focus of Aila had again clearly shifted
another 500 m southward. A mudbrick vault-
ed structure in Area J and a cemetery in Area
A, possibly associated with the mudbrick
vaulted structure, were both established in
the fourth century. But not long after, per-
haps in the late fourth or early fifth century,
the stone curtain wall with its interval towers
cut through this sector as the northwestern
segment of Byzantine Aila’s defenses.
Therefore Byzantine Aila must have been
centered somewhere south of the city wall.
How far the Byzantine city extended to the
east, where a pottery industry flourished in
the seventh century ca 150 m east of Area J,
is unknown. Certainly the Byzantine city did
not continue as far southeast as Early Islamic
Ayla, which was founded de novo ca 650.

It is reasonable to associate the Byzantine
fortifications with the presence of legio X
Fretensis, based at Aila throughout the
fourth century and presumably into the fifth
century. The recovery of two coins of Con-
stanius IT (337-361) from two different con-
struction loci of the wall and tower would
seem to negate the possibility that this wall is
the building project suggested by the frag-
mentary Latin inscription of ca. 317-326
found at Early Islamic Ayla. At least two of
the three major land approaches to the city
were controlled by Roman garrisons in the
fourth century: a string of garrisons lined
Wadi ‘Arabah, including a Tetrarchic fort at
Yotvata (ad Dianam , cf. Meshel 1989), and
the via nova Traiana , where its southern
segment through Wadi al-Yutum north-east
of Aila was protected by forts at al-Wu‘ayra,
Khirbat al-Khalde, and Qasr al-Kithara
(Parker 1986: 105-10).

The history of Byzantine Aila is obscure.
International commerce via the Red Sea in
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general and the Gulf of ‘Agaba in particular
remained a high priority to the imperial gov-
ernment. This is illustrated by the cam-
paigns by Romanus, dux Palaestinae, ca
500. He re-established Roman control over
the island of Iotabe, possibly at the entrance
to the Gulf of ‘Aqaba, where tariffs were lev-
ied on cargoes (Parker 1986: 150-51). Liter-
ary sources make clear that Aila remained an
active port through the sixth century, in-
cluding trade with India. Copper ore and
copper slag were recovered from Byzantine
contexts, suggesting that copper extracted
from the mines of Wadi ‘Arabah was still be-
ing processed at Aila.

But ca 530 Justinian initiated a dramatic
change in the security situation on the fron-
tier. He demobilized many of the regular
Roman frontier forces (limitanei ) and trans-
ferred primary responsibility for the defense
of the southeastern frontier to the Ghas-
sanids, who ruled as allied kings over an al-
liance of Saracen tribes. Legio X Fretensis
probably disappeared about this time, as for
example the evidence suggests for legio IV
Martia, based at Betthorus (al-Lajjon) and
several other forts farther north in Arabia
(Parker 1986: 149-52; 1987: 819-23). There
seems to have been no garrison at Aila by the
early seventh century. Arab sources make
no mention of any garrison in accounts of
Aila’s submission to Muslim forces in 630.
The fact that stone structures were erected
over the presumed line of the city wall in
Area J.9-10 suggests that the wall had ceased
to have any military function by the Late
Byzantine period. Its masonry was then ex-
tensively robbed, perhaps to build the ad-
jacent Early Islamic town in the mid-seventh
century.

One of the most important discoveries in
1994 was the Early Islamic occupation
around the Byzantine city wall, well outside
the walls of Early Islamic Ayla. The walled
town measures only ca 145 x 170 m, or 2.465
ha. At its height in the Umayyad and Ab-
basid periods, one could imagine the walled



town serving as the urban core but with ex-
tensive extramural settlement for industrial
and domestic use. Excavation in Areas A, K,
and L all revealed evidence of significant
Early Islamic occupation. In Areas A and K
this seems confined to the seventh and eighth
centuries, after which the areas were aban-
doned or used as dumps. But the domestic
occupation in Area L, closest to both shore-
line and the Early Islamic town, continued
well into the Abbasid period, after which it
too was used as a dump by the tenth century.
The evidence suggests that these ex-

the extramural settlement was in ruins by the
time of his visitin the tenth century. This also
seems to confirm Whitcomb’s view of Ayla
in the Fatimid period as an era of decline,
with a smaller, poorer population (Khouri
and Whitcomb 1988: 13; Whitcomb 1994: 7).
Finally, Early Islamic Ayla was itself aban-
doned by the early thirteenth century, when
settlement moved another one kilometer
southward to the site of the Late Islamic cas-
tle.

S. Thomas Parker

tramural areas north and west of the walled North Carolina State
town were abandoned by the tenth century. University
This interpretation receives further support Raleigh, North Carolina
from Muqaddasi, cited above, who states that U.S.A. )
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